
 
To: All Members of the Scrutiny Committee 

(and any other Members who may wish to attend) 

 

 

R. Groves 

Monitoring Officer 

 

 
Tel: 0151 296 4000 

Extn: 4113 Shauna Healey 

  

  

 
 Our ref   SH/RG Date: 15th July 2024 

 
 
Dear Sir/Madam, 

 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the SCRUTINY COMMITTEE to be held at 

1.00pm on TUESDAY 23rd July 2024 at Fire Service Headquarters in the Liverpool 

Suite. 

 

This meeting is webcast live to YouTube and is available at the following link: 

https://youtube.com/live/WF8D4AOobDM?feature=share 

 

https://youtu.be/SoynoyUNFOw 

 
Yours faithfully, 

PP – S Healey 
 

Monitoring Officer 
 
 
Encl. 

 

Public Document Pack

https://youtube.com/live/WF8D4AOobDM?feature=share


 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally blank 
 
 



 

3 

MERSEYSIDE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

23 JULY 2024 
 

AGENDA 
 

Members 

 

Councillor Paul Tweed (Chair) 

Councillor Linda Maloney  

Councillor Sam Gorst  

Councillor Jeanie Bell 

Councillor Dave Hanratty  

Councillor Doreen Knight  

Councillor Andrew Makinson   

Councillor Ed Lamb  

Councillor Gill Wood  

Mr Anthony Boyle 

 

 

1.   Apologies  

 To consider any apologies for absence. 
  

2.   Declarations of Interest  

 To consider declarations of interest in relation to any item on the agenda.  
 

3.   Minutes of the Last Meeting (Pages 5 - 10) 

 To consider the minutes of the last meeting held on the 25th April 2024.  
 

4.   Review of Organisational Culture (Pages 11 - 12) 

 To consider a presentation from the Chief Fire Officer providing a review of 
organisational culture (CFO/49/24).  
 

5.   Scrutiny Forward Work Plan 2023-2025 (Pages 13 - 16) 

 To consider a report of the Monitoring Officer presenting the Scrutiny 
Forward Work Plan 2023-2025 (CFO/50/24). 

 
 

----------------------------------- 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

MERSEYSIDE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

25 APRIL  2024 
 

MINUTES 
 
Present: Councillors Paul Tweed (Chair), Linda Maloney, Gill Wood, 

Dave Hanratty, Doreen Knight, Pat Moloney, Lesley Rennie, 

Ed Lamb and Mr Anthony Boyle (Co-opted Member)  

  

Also Present: Assistant Chief Fire Officer Dave Mottram 
Monitoring Officer Ria Groves 
Head of Finance and Procurement  James Campbell  

 

  

14. Apologies  
 
Apologies of absence were received Councillor Terry Byron. 
 
15. Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest made in relation to any item on the agenda.  
 
16. Minutes of the Previous Meeting  
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the last meeting held on 25th January 2024 were 
agreed as an accurate record.  
 
17. Scrutiny Task and Finish Group 
 
Monitoring Officer, Ria Groves, fed back to the Committee on the progress of the 
recent Scrutiny Task and Finish Group on Staff Sickness absence. It was discussed 
that there were a high proportion of Musculoskeletal (MSK) injuries which related to 
long-term sicknesses. Members queried the reasons for the high numbers, and it was 
discussed that it was in part due to increased waiting times within the NHS. Members 
were informed that the Authority supports staff with the cost of the referral, so that they 
can be seen quicker. 
 
Ria Groves advised Members that the cost of long-term sickness over the last two 
years was included within the report. However, it was advised that at the Task and 
Finish Group Members were assured how the Authority’s budget incorporated the 
cost.   
 
Members discussed collaborating with other organisations to identify trends on a 
national level, in particular relating to MSK injuries and the impact on staff employed 
as Firefighters. Members were informed about the Authority's promotion of Health and 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Wellbeing, including the Annual Health Awareness Programme and the Health and 
Wellbeing Network. 

Councillor Hanratty highlighted mental health and MSK injuries as key areas of focus.. 

Members also discussed the impact of the physical impact of a Firefighter’s role and 

the age profile of firefighters, noting the retirement age had changed.   

It was suggested for a recommendation to be added for the request for data to be 

gathered nationally to assess the impact of MSK injuries on staff over the age of 50. 

Members agreed to raise these concerns with the Local Government Association 

(LGA) and ask them to collate data to identify any trends. Councillor Rennie also 

emphasised the need for the Authority to ensure firefighters have the best retirement 

possible.  

Councillor Wood emphasised how critical it is to put preventative and fitness measures 

in place for MSK concerns in the early years of a firefighter’s career. 

Assistant Chief Fire Officer, Dave Mottram, reassured Members that the Authority is 
investing heavily in training to assist with the prevention of injuries, including mental 
health support and fitness programmes. It was advised that trend analysis is 
conducted to scrutinise every injury and that firefighters have an hour dedicated to 
fitness every day. The importance of maintaining fitness throughout firefighter’s 
careers was emphasised along with the steps taken by the Authority to safeguard its 
staff.  

Councillor Maloney raised the issue of how to determine if the LGA would assit in 
reviewing this issue nationally. 

It was proposed to write a letter to the LGA and to copy into the letter the Chair and 
Vice Chairs. 

Councillor Moloney expressed appreciation for the focus on the health of firefighters 

and the attitude towards this scrutiny work.  

Councillor Moloney advised of Members of the recent visit to Old Swan Fire Station 

and how impressed Members were with the measures taken to avoid cross-

contamination, which would benefit and ensure the health of firefighters was 

maintained into retirement age.  

The level of knowledge displayed by the firefighters on station was commended, and 

their serious approach to contaminants was praised.  

RESOLVED that:  
 

a) the conclusion of the Task and Finish Group into the review of staff sickness 
absences as detailed in this report be noted.  

 
b) the recommendation to promote the health benefits of walking, cycling, and 

expanding health promotions to also include diabetes be noted.  

Page 6



 
c) the recommendation to collaborate nationally on any trends or best practices in 

managing staff sickness absences (including feedback to the NFCC) be noted.  
 

d) the recommendation for Officers to continue to review the mental health and 
wellbeing support provided to staff will be noted 

 
e)  the Monitoring Officer be instructed to include the outcomes in the scrutiny 

annual review; 
 

f) a letter be written to the LGA to raise concerns relating to MSK injuries 
sustained by firefighters and to ask for national data to be collated to scrutinise 
for trends in particular by age demographics, and 
 

g) Staff Absence information be included in the Annual Health and Safety Report. 
 

18. Staff Survey 2022 Actions Update  
 
Community Engagement Advisor, Michelle Kirk, gave a presentation which outlined 
an overview and recap of the last staff survey conducted in 2022.  It was explained 
that staff engagement surveys have been conducted since 2014 and were developed  
every two years, even during incidents such as COVID-19.  Members were advised 
that all previous surveys are used as a benchmark to identify areas for improvement. 
 
Michelle Kirk explained the summary of findings from the 2022 survey. It was 
highlighted that staff surveys have been conducted on behalf of the Authority by a 
company named People Insight, who also work with other Fire and Rescue Services.  
 
Members were made aware that overall, the survey had a positive response, although 
there was a 2% drop in the Authority’s engagement levels compared to the previous 
survey.  
 
Members were advised that the Authority had a strong employee engagement score, 
strong performance against benchmarks and staff reported that they felt  
acknowledged and valued with positive appraisals.  

It was noted that areas for improvement included response rates to the survey among 
operational staff, work-life balance, better collaboration between departments, and 
understanding the impact of national disputes. 

Michelle Kirk summarised the actions taken to date.  

With regards to responses about work life balance Members were advised that Hybrid 
Working had been introduced and the Flexi-Time system had been amended. It was 
hoped that this improvement would benefit the staff. Members were also advised that 
during the last HMI inspection staff had spoken positively about work life balance, 
showing an improvement since the survey was undertaken.  

It was explained that the Draft People Plan was accompanied by the creation of a 
Cultural Action Plan and the associated cultural dashboard to aid organisational 

Page 7



learning. Following feedback from 2023, it was noted that a revised approach was 
produced for the appointment process for 2024. Members were advised that the 
Recognition and Reward policies had been revised, based off staff feedback.   

It was explained that a new Learning Management System (LMS) was implemented 
based on staff feedback. 

Michelle Kirk informed Members that x2 grade 12 Managerial roles were being trialed. 
This was a result of feedback in the survey relating to development opportunities for 
non-operational staff.  

It was explained that career development will be a focus in the next staff survey in 
November and December 2024.  

Councillor Wood queried how staff access the survey, and it was explained that it was 
accessible through mobile phones and laptops.  

The committee discussed confidentiality as some staff had been concerned about their 
anonymity. It was explained that the survey had been conducted by an external 
organisation and responses had remained anonymous throughout the process.  

Deb Appleton, Director of Strategy and Performance, advised Members that the 
survey was conducted throughout November and December to maintain a 2-year gap 
between surveys.  Members were advised that reminders were sent to staff, and the 
survey was open for 5–6 weeks.  

Councillor Hanratty praised the Authority on their hard work and progress, he also 
acknowledged that there were reasons for the low response rate.  

The importance of Station Visits and Staff Engagement days were noted, and 
Councillor Hanratty suggested some improvements that could be made regarding 
engaging with Firefighters.  

Deb Appleton advised Members that the upcoming Pulse Survey would be about 
Authority Members and their engagement with staff. 

The use of Pulse Surveys and more frequent feedback was suggested by Councillor 
Lamb to overcome the limitations of conducting surveys every 2 years.   

RESOLVED that the content of the report (and the presentation that was given) as 
part of a broader discussion about the 2022 staff survey results and actions be 
noted. 
 
19. Employee Work/Life Balance  
 
Councillor Hanratty left the meeting at 14:00  
 
Director  of People and Organisational Development, Nick Mernock, presented the 
Employee Work/Life Balance report that contained an overview of the first 12 months 

Page 8



of the introduction of Hybrid Working, it was explained that the implementation of the 
trial started 18 months ago. 
 
Members were advised that Nick and the Chief Fire Officer, Phil Garrigan, ran 
consultation meetings which were attended by 90 members of staff, including both 
uniformed and non-uniformed staff.  The staff discussed home working and there was 
a mix of views regarding the frequency of working in the office. 

It was noted that the idea of a compressed working week was discussed among some 
staff members, but there were reservations about the ability to complete busy 
workloads in four days.   

It was explained that the revision of the flexitime system and extending working hours 
had increased flexibility. 

Nick Mernock discussed concerns about hybrid working being limited for certain duties 
and job roles, ensuring part-time staff receive the same opportunities, and keeping 
agile working as an option.  Nick Mernock informed Members of the positive comments 
from the review, which included staff wanting to come into the office as well as 
feedback around reducing travel costs, releasing more productive work time, and 
reducing worries over childcare.  

Nick Mernock explained to Members that there may be opportunity for staff to be able 
to work from a local Fire Station. Members were advised that there was still an 
expectation for staff to adhere to core hours.  

It was noted that two surveys were circulated to staff, which included surveys to 
managers and another to employees who undertake Hybrid Working. It was explained 
that the feedback received was overall positive, and the trial would run for another 12 
months. However, some issues raised by staff included the need for clearer rules, 
diverting phones during hybrid working, and that there were still some outstanding 
applications that had since been resolved.  

Members were advised a reduction of 1% in short-term sickness had been identified. 
It was noted that the trial had contributed to improved recruitment and retention. 

Councillor Moloney queried flexi carryover from month to month, in which Members 
were advised it was three days. It was noted that managers monitored the number of 
hours staff were working, from a Health and Safety perspective. 

Councillor Moloney also questioned if the introduction of Hybrid Working had reduced 
the amount of overtime being taken, in which Nick Mernock advised that overtime 
wasn’t a significant issue within the Service.  

Councillor Rennie queried if any complaints were received over the cost of heating 
people’s homes and Nick Mernock advised that no complaints were received. It was 
noted that implementing an allowance for fuel would be costly for the Authority and all 
office space remains available to staff. 

Page 9



Councillor Wood thanked Officers for the presentation and noted the importance of the 
trust between staff and the Authority, when working from home.  

With regards to home working, Councillor Knight asked how many staff said they don’t 
want to work from home. Although a definitive figure could not be provided at the time 
Members discussed how interacting with other colleagues was beneficial for building 
relationships.  

Financial implications were discussed, including the cost of replacement for equipment 
when working from home including the equipment’s life span. Nick Mernock explained 
that budgeting for these expenses was covered by the department's refresher 
program, and it was noted that the lifespan of laptops is monitored.  

Nick Mernock advised that after the trial there would be scope to make the policy 
permanent.  

RESOLVED that:   
 

a) the presentation be noted; and 
 

b) all suitable feedback and appropriate scrutiny of the Hybrid Working Policy be 
provided.  
 
 

20. Scrutiny Forward Work Plan  
 
Monitoring Officer, Ria Groves, provided an overview of the Scrutiny Forward Work 
Plan. Members were advised that the plan was flexible. 
 
The Chair noted that the plan was working well to scrutinise any areas of concern.  
 
Councillor Maloney suggested scrutinising the Smoke Alarms fitted to homes across 
Merseyside, as it was reported that they were not lasting the expected 10-year life 
span.  
 
 
RESOLVED that the proposed Scrutiny Forward Work Plan for 2023-2025 be 
reviewed.  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 10



MERSEYSIDE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 

MEETING OF THE: SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 23 JULY 2024 REPORT NO: CFO/49/24 

PRESENTING 
OFFICER 

CHIEF FIRE OFFICER, PHIL GARRIGAN 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

DIRECTOR OF PEOPLE, 
ORGANISATIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT AND 
LEGAL, NICK MERNOCK 
 

REPORT 
AUTHOR: 

NICK 
MERNOCK 

OFFICERS 
CONSULTED: 

SENIOR CULTURAL INCLUSION MANAGER, MO JOGI 

TITLE OF REPORT: REVIEW OF ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE 

 

APPENDICES: NONE  

 

Purpose of Report 

 
1. To provide to Members with an overview of the work completed by Merseyside Fire 

and Rescue Service (MFRS) in relation to Organisational Culture. 
 

Recommendation 

 

2. It is recommended that Members note the report and scrutinise the accompanying 
presentation. 
 

Introduction and Background 

 
3. The Fire Sector in more recent years has been under greater scrutiny as a result of 

incidents occurring across various fire and rescue services relating to 
unacceptable behaviour.  
  

4. In response His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 
Service have incorporated the organisational culture of all fire and rescue services 
into its inspection regime.  

 
5. Members will be provided with a presentation on the continual work MFRS has 

undertaken to date on the organisational culture as well as the future objectives 
derived from its strategic and operational plans.   

 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

 
6. All relevant EIA’s were completed and agreed for the policy work undertaken. 
 
7. All the work has been shared with the Representative Bodies and Staff Networks. 

 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

Staff Implications 

 
8. The introduction of the Action Plans followed feedback from staff, and the staff 

networks. 
 

Legal Implications 

 
9. All actions conform with the relevant legislation placed onto the Authority. 
 

Financial Implications & Value for Money 

 
10. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  

 

Risk Management and Health & Safety Implications 

 
11. None in relation to this report 
 

Environmental Implications 

 
12. There are no environmental implications arising from this report.  

 

Contribution to Our Vision: 
 

                      Our Purpose: 

To be the best Fire & Rescue Service in the UK.  
 
Here to serve, Here to protect, Here to keep you safe. 

 
13. Scrutiny of the organisational culture at MFRS will provide transparency as to the 

work undertaken to date and of the plans in place, providing assurances to the 
staff and  communities it serves as to MFRS’ standards.  
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

  
NONE 
 

 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

  
 
EIA                  Equality Impact Assessment  
 
HMICFRS       His Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue      

Services  

Page 12



MERSEYSIDE FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 
MEETING OF THE: SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 23 JULY 2024 REPORT NO: CFO/50/24 

PRESENTING 
OFFICER 

MONITORING OFFICER RIA GROVES 

RESPONSIBLE 
OFFICER: 

RIA GROVES  
 

REPORT 
AUTHOR: 

RIA GROVES 

OFFICERS 
CONSULTED: 

 

TITLE OF REPORT: SCRUTINY FORWARD WORK PLAN 2023-2025 

 

APPENDICES: APPENDIX A: SCRUTINY FORWARD WORK PLAN 
2023-2025 

 
 

Purpose of Report 

 
1. To request that Members review the proposed Scrutiny Forward Work Plan for 

2023-2025.  
 

Recommendation 

 

2. It is recommended that Members review the proposed Scrutiny Forward Work Plan 
2023-2025. 
 

Introduction and Background 

 
3. A draft Forward Work Plan was considered at the Scrutiny Committee on the 

14th September 2023 and approved by the full Authority on the 12th October 
2023. 
  

4. At the meeting of the Authority in October 2023  it was agreed the Scrutiny 
Forward Work Plan would span the municipal year 2024-2025  due to the number 
of items contained on the Plan.  

 
5. The current and approved Scrutiny Forward Work Plan is contained in appendix 

A.  
 

6. Those items Members have been presented to scrutinise have been marked in 
blue on the Scrutiny Forward Work Plan.   
 

 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

 
7. There are no direct equality and diversity and inclusion implications for the 

proposed plan and no requirement for an EIA. However, the scrutiny topic itself 
will have an EIA or one will be drafted if necessary if the scrutiny topic is at 
inception stage.  

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 
 

Staff Implications 

 
8. The Democratic Services team will work with Members and arrange meetings 

accordingly.  
 

Legal Implications 

 
9. There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. 

 

Financial Implications & Value for Money 

 
10. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

 

Risk Management and Health & Safety Implications 

 
11. There are no direct implications arising out of this report. However, as the 

Scrutiny Forward Work Plan contains topics which may include actions taken by 
the Authority that can affect the Authority’s risk management, health and safety 
and response to the environment, any potential impacts will be addressed within 
the relevant scrutiny topic as it is scrutinised.  

 

Environmental Implications 

 
12. There are no environmental implications arising from this report. However, as 

the Scrutiny Forward Work Plan contains topics which may include actions that 
can affect the environment, any potential impacts will be addressed within the 
relevant scrutiny topic as it is scrutinised.  

 
 

Contribution to Our Vision: 
 

                      Our Purpose: 

To be the best Fire & Rescue Service in the UK.  
 
Here to serve, Here to protect, Here to keep you safe. 

 
13. The scrutiny of Merseyside Fire and Rescue Services actions contained on the 

Scrutiny Forward Work Plan, provides a transparent and accountable process.   
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

  
NONE  
 

 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

  
NONE 

Page 14



SCRUTINY FORWARD PLAN 2023-2025 
 

Item DESCRIPTION &TYPE OF ACTION DEPARTMENT Proposed Scrutiny Meeting 

Management of 
Contaminates 

Scrutiny of the Authority’s management of 
contaminates and hazardous materials. 

Response TBC 

Staff Sickness A review of the impact of staff sickness over the 
last 3 years and how this is managed by MFRA. 

POD 25th January 2024 

 
Employee work/life 

balance 

Scrutiny of the Authority’s working practices 
which offer staff a greater work life balance 
(including hybrid and family friendly policies) and 
the impact they have for the Authority to become 
an employer of choice when tackling retention, 
recruitment and development of staff. 

POD 25th April 2024 

Enforcement and 
Prosecution Action 

Scrutiny of the Authority’s prosecution and 
enforcement powers and how they are used. 

Protection 10th April 2025 

Culture, Inclusivity and 
Behaviours 

Scrutiny of how the Authority has progressed in 
development of culture and inclusivity over the 
past two years and how it plans to progress it in 
the future. 

POD 23rd July 2024  

The environment and 
the impact on MFRS’s 
operational response 

(broken down into 
smaller topics through 

the two years) 

A review of how environmental changes and 
developments are impacting the Authority in 
terms of wildfires, alternative fuels, the fleet 
management, pathway to net zero and flooding. 

Response 
Preparedness 

Estates 
SLT 

Operational response to Wildfires – 25th January 
2024 
Update on Pathway to Net Zero including Fleet 
Management – TBC 
Alternative Fuels - TBC 
Operational response to flooding - TBC 

P
age 15



 

Actions from Staff 
Survey and Preparation 

for 2024 

Scrutiny of the actions undertaken from the 2022 
Staff Survey and preparation for the staff survey 
in 2024. 

S&P 25th April 2024 

Protections adaptation 
to new legislation and 
the response to and 

actions from the Grenfell 
Tower and Manchester 

Enquiry 

Scrutiny of the Authority’s response to new 
legislation resulting from Grenfell Tower and the 
Manchester Enquiry with a focus on the actions 
arising and how they are implemented. 

Response 10th April 2025 

Review of the provision 
of smoke alarms 

Scrutiny of the provision of smoke alarms to the 
community and their effectiveness. 

Prevention 24th October 2024 

 
Standing Items: 

Health and Safety Review 

Scrutiny Forward Work Plan 

 

P
age 16


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Last Meeting
	4 Review of Organisational Culture
	5 Scrutiny Forward Work Plan 2023-2025
	Appendix 1: Scrutiny Forward Work Plan 2023-2025


